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SUMMARY OF PRESENT AND ORIGINAL PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The pressed stone and shingle, vernacular-style, free-standing structure, located at 
235 South Orange Avenue, is a two-story former residence which was created in 1913 
by the construction of a full one-story frame addition which was added to a one-story 
pressed stone building. The two-story structure is characterized by the use of pressed 
or artificial stone, and gabled and dormered ends clad in wood shingles. Each wide 
gable overhang is supported on pierced wood brackets. The dormered second stories of 
the east and west elevations are pierced by four, double-hung-sashed wood windows. 
During the 1913 alteration construction, a generous screened entrance porch was added 
to the west elevation, with a sleeping porch above. Located at'the south and northeast 
elevations the original chimneys, constructed of pale brick with a darker brick and 
pressed stone ornamentation, were retained during the 1913 addition which was referred 
to in the contemporary press as having "raised the roof . . ." 3 Although only a section 
of the chimney shaft is visible, the bands of ornamental dark brick and artificial stone 
are still visible. The former residence (and later office) of Dr. C. B. Wilson has 
been meticulously re-used as an attorney's office. The structure stands today as it 
did following the early 1913 addition, which provided a pantry, bathroom, and storeroom 
at the first floor level as well as a three-bedroom, bath, balcony and sleeping porch 
at the second story. The original layout of the interior has been respected and the 
only exterior alteration is the use of a metal-crimp roof surface, which although new, 
is sympathetic. In an area of creeping high-density commercialism, the Dr. C. B. Wil­ 
son residence with its naturalistic landscape and mature sweet gum tree (visible in 
the circa 1909 Photograph) 4 is remarkable.

TEXT SUPPORTING SUMMARY OF PRESENT AND ORIGINAL PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

An early photograph (attached) of the original appearance of 235 S. Orange Avenue in the 
collection of the Sarasota County Historical Archives shows Dr. C. B. Wilson, proud owner 
of a new automobile, in front of 235 S. Orange Avenue. The structure, circa 1906, was 
a \-\ story, concrete block or pressed artificial stone structure with heavily rusti- 
cated-faced, large, artificial stone blocks and a high-pitched hipped roof covered with 
wood shingles. A shed-roofed dormer window appeared at the western elevation of this 
l-h story structure. In the early black-and-white photograph two brick chimneys are 
visible and appear to be constructed of a light-colored brick ornamented by a dark 
band of brick flanking two bands of cast stone rusticated blocks. The chimneys were 
and are at the south and northeast elevations of the building. One window visible in 
photograph L-65 is a double-hung-sash 1/1 window. Also visible in this circa 1909 
photograph is a young sweet gum tree located in the yeard on the west side of the 
property line.

By October, 1912 a Sarasota Times article referred to improvements being made on the 
property by Dr. C. B. Wilson; the first structure erected was a garage. 6 By June of 
1913 Dr. C. B. Wilson was building an addition to his home. 7 The alteration was 
described as follows: "Dr. C. B. Wilson has raised the roof on his house, making it 
two stories in height and adding four rooms, sleeping porch and bathroom." 8 Further 
description of the Wilson alterations occurred in August of 1913, "Dr. C. B. Wilson 
will have the alterations to his home on Orange Avenue completed this week. The first
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The location of this vernacular style pressed or artificial stone building is 
important. Located in the 200 block of S. Orange Avenue, the early structure is 
adjacent to the major artery of Ringling Boulevard. The area is becoming densely 
developed. The residence of Dr. C. B. Wilson which is now used as an attorney's 
office has been meticulously restored and maintained by the current owners. It is 
still set in naturalistic landscape of palm trees and the young sweet gum tree 
visible in the circa 190911 photograph of Dr. C. B. Wilson has thrived and still 
exists in the west parameter of the property. Even the original interior has been 
respected in the recent restoration, and the garage out building located at the 
northeast parameter of the property, remains.
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floor has the addition of a pantry, store room, and bathroom, while the second has 
three bedrooms, bath, balcony and sleeping porch. Built-in china closets and book­ 
cases are attractive features. The walls are plastered and finished in Mission. 
This will make another of Sarasota's attractive homes." 9

The 1913 alterations described in the Sarasota Times article were carried out by 
Mr. C. B. Wilson, and it is the period of occupation by Dr. C. B. Wilson and his 
family and the associations thereof that are significant. Number 235 S. Orange 
stands today in a remarkably intact appearance from the 1913 period of early and 
significant alterations. When the second story elevation was added in 1913, the 
roof form became a gabled structure. At the west or entrance elevation, a cross 
gabled dormer is characterized by the use of shingle applied to the gable end 
surface and the use of pierced wooden brackets located at the eaves and at the roof 
apex. Four full double-hung sash windows provide light for this cross gabled 
dormered area. A wood-framed screened entrance porch was also provided at the west 
elevation during the 1913 enlargement. The porch is symmetrically massed, with a 
tripartite fascia and wood porch piers carried on rusticated artificial stone bases 
or pedestals. The artificial stone used at the pedestal bases resemble rusticated 
brick-sized coursing. The porch pedestals are connected visually by a plain wood 
slat porch railing. Multi-paned French windows were provided at the interior wall 
of the ground floor porch. According to information supplied by the 1929 Sanborn 
Insurance Map, 10 Number 235 S. Orange Avenue was of concrete block construction on 
the first floor with a frame second story. The roof material indicated on the 1929 
map is a shingled material. The one-story garage located at the northeastern 
section of the property boundaries was indicated in a red color signifying masonry 
construction and the roof surface was tile. Located at the north elevation a 
one-story wing constructed of pressed or artificial stone facade intersects at the 
gabled end of the two-story main block. The prominent gabled-end located at the 
north elevation is also shingle clad and is characterized by a wide overhang with 
open, pierced wooden brackets.

The east elevation of 235 S. Orange is marked by the appearance of a shed roofed, 
full-sized dormer area. Light is provided by four full double-hung-sashed windows 
at the east elevation of the main gabled roof structure. A screened and louvered 
porch with shed roof projects beyond the gabled main roof at the ground floor level. 
A wooden entry deck has been provided by the current owners.

When the second story was added to the building located at 235 S. Orange, the 
chimneys were retained but enclosed within the second story of the structure, 
visible only at the apex of the gabled roof. The upper bands of cast stone and 
dark red brick are still visible.

Alterations: The roof surfaces of both cross gable and major gabled roof are now 
covered in crimped metal surfacing. Although this is a new roof surface, it is 
extremely sympathetic in appearance and resembles a terne material. The pressed or 
artificial stone wall located at the interior of the porch, located at the entrance 
or west elevation has received a coat of white paint. A wood deck has been added 
to the east or rear elevation.
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SUMMARYQF STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The two-story pressed or artificial stone and shingle vernacular-style structure, 
located at 235 South Orange Avenue was originally a 1-^ storv pressed stone structure 
with massive shingle-clad hipped roof, built circa 1906. The original appearance 
is documented in a photograph c. 1909. 14 The property having been purchased by 
Dr. and Mrs. C. B. Wilson in 1907, 15 Dr. Wilson began improvements beginning in 1912 
with the addition of a garage. 16 As the residence of early Sarasota settlers and the 
office of a prominent local physician, 235 S. Orange Avenue is significant for its 
associations with the Wilson family; and as such, the major additions to the earlier 
structure which occurred beginning in 1913 are of primary concern. Beginning in June 
of 1913 17 and continuing through August of 1913, ^° the roof of the structure was raised 
and a wood-frame, full second story was added to the structure. In exterior and 
interior layout the C. B. Wilson Residence stands today much as it did upon completion 
of the 1913 alterations. Recently, the structure has been very sympathetically reused < 
as an attorney's office. In an area of commercialism, the former C. B. Wilson Resi­ 
dence is an early structure which is remarkably intact and set within a naturalistic 
landscape which includes a mature sweet gum tree which is visible in the circa 1909 
photograph 19 of the western elevation of the property.

TEXT SUPPORTING SUMMARY OF STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The two-story artificial or pressed stone and shingle vernacular-styled structure locatec 
at 235 S. Orange Avenue is set on property which was originally purchased from Col. & 
Mrs. J. H. Gillespie by Edgar and Florence Ferdon: the site represented as lots 2 and 4 
of subdivision of lots 1, 2, 3 and 4 of original block G. In September of 1907, 
Dr. C. B. Wilson purchased the property from F. M. Ferdon,21 Edgar Ferdon was an 
architect practicing in Sarasota in the early part of the 20th century.22 The building 
located at 235 S. Orange Avenue was originally a 1-% story structure probably built by 
Edgar Ferdon, circa 1906. The property was bought by Dr. C. B. Wilson from Florence May 
Ferdon and husband, Edgar Ferdon in September, 1907. The original 1-^ story struc­ 
ture is visible in an early photograph of Dr. C. B. Wilson with his new automobile. 24 
By 1912 a garage had been added to the property and by June of 1913 major improvements 
and alterations to the 1-^ story building were being undertaken by Dr. C. B. Wilson and 
family. He raised the roof of the building, creating a two-story residence. 26 The 
significant and extensive alterations, planned and executed by Dr. C. B. Wilson, are 
extant in the structure today, and it is really the period beginning in 1913 with the 
alterations associated with the prominent local figure Dr. C. B. Wilson that is signifi­ 
cant. The building is remarkably intact today and is used as the offices of the local 
law firm, Fuller, Breslau & Stinnett, Attorneys-at-Law. The Sarasota law firm, in
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particular the Fullers, executed a very sympathetic reuse of this early and signifi­ 
cant pressed stone structure.

The period of significance is associated with Dr. Cullen Bryant Wilson, who was the 
son of Mr. & Mrs. A. M. Wilson. Born on July 11, 1878, Dr. Wilson was educated at 
the South Florida Military Academy, and at the University of Alabama Medical School.
School. According to Grismer, Dr. Wilson arrived in Sarasota in 1907, where he

28was a practicing physician until 1941. He was also the owner of the first automo­ 
bile in the Town of Sarasota and an early photograph (circa 1909) indeed depicts 
Dr. Wilson in his automobile. In addition to a successful medical career, Dr. 
Wilson served as the president of the First Bank & Trust Company (1924-1925) and 
as president of the First Trust Company of Sarasota from 1925-1941 30 (please see 
MRNS #8). Mrs. Wilson, the former Frances Rebecca Reeves, was also an early pioneer 
of the Sarasota region, being the daughter of Mr. & Mrs. Charles L. Reeves of Fruit- 
ville. Mr. Reeves was a founder and first postmaster of Fruitville. 31 As an avid 
automobilist, Dr. Wilson was among the Sarasotoans who "plugged" the extension to 
Sarasota of the Tamiami Trail. He was a member of the Sarasota Male Quartet 
famous for his second bass voice. 33 From 1910-1913 Dr. C. B. Wilson had an interest 
in the Crescent Pharmacy on Main Street, 34 and he served i'n the year 1915 as the 
City Health Officer. 35 By 1924, Dr. C. B. Wilson, M.D.,'s professional card which 
appeared in the Sarasota Directory listed his office at 308% Main Street and in 
later years he practiced out of his office at 235 S. Orange Avenue. 36 Dr. Wilson 
died February 24, 1941. 37
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